I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The Circuit Court erred in concluding that the parties' Master Services Agreement was modified by incorporating the "Lost in Hole" terms and conditions contained in Respondent's Pricing Proposal because the parties' Master Services Agreement explicitly and expressly prohibits such modification, and there were no authorized, written modifications of such Agreement as required.
- The Circuit Court erred in concluding that Respondent did not bear the risk and costs for the "Lost in Hole" equipment under the unambiguous terms of the parties' Master Services Agreement.
- 3. The Circuit Court erred in concluding that the "Lost in Hole" terms and conditions contained in Respondent's Pricing Proposal must be construed with and incorporated into the parties' Master Services Agreement.
- 4. The Circuit Court erred in concluding that the "Lost in Hole" terms and conditions contained in Respondent's Pricing Proposal were not in conflict with multiple provisions of the parties' Master Services Agreement.
- 5. The Circuit Court erred in concluding that Respondent was a provider of tools and equipment when it was clear that it was a provider of a service.
- 6. The Circuit Court erred in concluding that Respondent's charges for "Lost in Hole" insurance were proper.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND.

On April 6, 2018, Respondent, Directional One Services Inc. USA ("Directional One" or

"Respondent"), filed a civil action in the Circuit Court of Tyler County.¹ On April 19, 2018, Directional One filed its First Amended Complaint,² asserting claims for breach of contract, lien foreclosure, estoppel, mutual mistake/equitable reformation, and negligent misrepresentation. Directional One sought payment of two disputed invoices and lost future profits.

Petitioner, Antero Resources Corporation ("Antero" or "Petitioner"), filed its motion to dismiss on June 15, 2018,³ which the Circuit Court denied on July 18, 2018.⁴ Antero served its Answer and Counterclaim on August 1, 2018, asserting four counts of breach of contract against Directional One.⁵ Antero sought reimbursement for payment of improper invoices and charges submitted by Directional One.⁶ On December 27, 2018, Directional One moved to refer the case to the West Virginia Business Court, which this Court granted on February 19, 2019.⁷

On May 9, 2019, Directional One filed its Motion for Partial Summary Judgment seeking judgment in its favor as to all of its claims, except for its claim for lost future profits, as well as judgment in its favor as to all Antero's counterclaims.⁸ That same day, Antero filed its Motion for Summary Judgment as to all its counterclaims, as well as judgment in its favor as to all of Directional One's claims.⁹

¹ See App. 1.

² App. 30-40. The First Amended Complaint is the operative complaint in this action. Any reference hereinafter to the "Complaint" is a reference to the First Amended Complaint.

³ App. 41-82.

⁴ App. 83-87.

⁵ App. 88-107.

⁶ *Id*.

⁷ App. 120.

⁸ App. 345-666.

⁹ App. 123-344.

On August 19, 2019, the Circuit Court entered its Order Granting in Part and Denying in Part Directional One's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment¹⁰ and its Order Granting in Part and Denying in Part Antero's Motion for Summary Judgment.¹¹

The Circuit Court granted judgment in favor of Directional One regarding its claim for breach of contract in the amount of \$1,481,510.30, plus interest, and denied as moot its equitable claims asserted in the alternative.¹² The Circuit Court's Orders made no ruling or findings regarding Directional One's claim for lien enforcement. The Circuit Court also granted judgment in favor of Directional One as to three of Antero's counterclaims, leaving for trial only Antero's fourth claim for breach of contract related to improper standby and day rate charges.¹³ Finally, the Circuit Court granted judgment in Antero's favor regarding Directional One's claim for lost future profits.¹⁴

On August 26, 2020, trial was conducted on the only remaining claim, Antero's counterclaim for breach of contract for improper standby and day rate charges. At the conclusion of trial, the jury returned a verdict in favor of Directional One.¹⁵

On November 4, 2020, the Circuit Court entered its final Judgment Order from which Antero is prosecuting an appeal.¹⁶

¹⁰ App. 992-1007.

¹¹ App. 1008-20.

¹² App. 1006-07.

¹³ App. 1000-03; 10019-20.

¹⁴ App. 1014-19.

¹⁵ App. 1021-22.

¹⁶ App. 1023-27.

B. FACTUAL BACKGROUND.

Antero produces natural gas and related products in the Appalachian Basin. Antero hired Directional One to provide directional drilling services. Specifically, on August 25, 2014, Directional One submitted its "Directional Drilling Proposal" to Antero, ¹⁷ which, in addition to including the daily rates for its directional drilling services, also included multiple pages of additional terms and conditions. ¹⁸ The parties entered a Master Services Agreement dated August 29, 2014, and later executed a new Master Services Agreement ("MSA") dated September 30, 2015. ¹⁹

While drilling on Antero's Jameson Unit 1H well on December 29, 2017, Directional One's directional drilling equipment became lodged in the wellbore (commonly referred to as "lost in hole" or "LIH" equipment) and could not be freed or recovered.²⁰ Directional One submitted an invoice for this LIH equipment dated January 3, 2018, for \$762,425.30.²¹

Antero disputed the invoice and requested certain documents related to the LIH equipment pursuant to its audit rights under the MSA.²² Directional One initially refused to

¹⁷ App. 373-86

The Directional Drilling Proposal was replaced with updated Proposals multiple times over the parties' relationship. The various Proposals provided by Directional One over the course of the parties' relationship were either titled "Directional Drilling Proposal" or "Pricing Proposal." The various Proposals, all of which were unsigned except for the first one, were in all respects relevant hereto, substantively identical. The only substantive changes across the various Proposals that are relevant here were to the prices for the services Directional One offered. For these reasons, this brief will refer the various Proposals universally as the "Pricing Proposal."

¹⁹ The 2014 MSA and the 2015 MSA are identical in all relevant respects. The 2014 MSA was executed by Directional One on September 19, 2014. App. 447-64.

²⁰ App. 131; 358.

²¹ App. 190-91.

²² App. 131; 155.

provide the requested records, but Antero nevertheless continued to utilize Directional One to provide directional drilling services while the invoice dispute continued.

By letter dated February 20, 2018, Directional One notified Antero that it was unilaterally terminating the parties' MSA effective thirty days therefrom.²³ Three days later, on February 23, 2018, while drilling at Antero's Jack Unit 2H well, Directional One again lost its equipment in the wellbore.²⁴ Directional One submitted an invoice for this second set of LIH equipment dated March 20, 2018, for \$719,085.00, which Antero also disputed.²⁵

As part of its review of Directional One's invoices for the LIH equipment on the Jameson 1H and Jack 2H wells, Antero's engineering department reviewed the parties' MSA. Their review informed them that the MSA clearly provided that Directional One was required to analyze and incorporate the risks and costs of its equipment becoming lost in hole into the pricing for its services, which are billed by the day.²⁶ Further, the MSA provided that Directional One was required to provide first-party property insurance to cover itself, and Antero by naming it as an additional insured for any potential loss related to its equipment and tools.²⁷ Directional One was also required to indemnify Antero for any such losses.²⁸ Moreover, a review of Directional One's earlier invoices showed that Directional One had improperly submitted multiple invoices for LIH

1

²³ App. 195.

²⁴ App. 132; 358.

²⁵ App. 196-97.

²⁶ App. 133-35.

²⁷ App. 137-38; 160-61; 166.

²⁸ App. 137-38; 157-58.

equipment, as well as multiple charges to Antero for LIH insurance,²⁹ all which Antero had mistakenly paid.

Simply put, Directional One, a drilling services provider, has attempted to shift its loss of equipment for which it was responsible and for which it had contractually assumed the risk and obligated itself to insure such risk for Antero's benefit onto Antero.

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court erred by concluding that the parties' agreement required Antero to bear the risk and costs for Directional One's LIH equipment. As a result, the Circuit Court's orders on the parties' cross-motions for summary judgment contain several errors.

First, the Circuit Court erred in concluding that the parties' MSA was modified by incorporating the "LIH" terms and conditions contained in Respondent's Pricing Proposal because the parties' MSA explicitly and expressly prohibits such modification, and there were no authorized, written modifications of such MSA as required.

Second, the Circuit Court erred when it concluded that Directional One did not bear the risks and costs for the LIH equipment under the terms of the parties' MSA. The MSA requires Directional One to evaluate the risk of its equipment becoming lost in hole, the costs of such losses, and incorporate those risks and costs into the compensation for its directional drilling services. The MSA further requires Directional One to indemnify Antero for losses associated with LIH

²⁹ App. 137-38. Directional One provided an option for LIH insurance, which was not truly insurance. Rather, it was a daily charge that Antero could elect to take for each day the equipment was used on a well site, which, if equipment became LIH, would reduce Directional One's charges for certain pieces of the equipment by a fixed percentage, usually 50%.

equipment and procure first-party property insurance to cover such losses.

Third, the Circuit Court incorrectly ruled that the terms and conditions in Directional One's Pricing Proposal must be incorporated into and construed with the terms and conditions of the parties' unambiguous MSA. The MSA clearly and specifically provides that in the event of any conflict between the MSA and any other document, the MSA shall control and that any inconsistency between the MSA and any other document is explicitly rejected.

Fourth, the Circuit Court erred when it concluded that the LIH terms and conditions in Directional One's Pricing Proposal did not conflict with the MSA terms. The forced incorporation of the Pricing Proposal's terms for LIH equipment not only produces direct conflicts with the MSA but renders multiple provisions of the MSA without meaning or effect.

Fifth, the Circuit Court erred in concluding that Directional One was a provider of equipment. Directional One was never a provider of equipment as contemplated under the MSA. Instead, Directional One was purely a service provider that used its tools and equipment to perform its services. In any event, such a designation is irrelevant as it does not affect the fact that the parties' MSA clearly requires Directional One to account for, insure, and accept the risk and costs for LIH equipment.

Finally, the Circuit Court's error in concluding that Directional One was not responsible for the risks and costs associated with its equipment becoming lost in hole led to the additional error that Directional One's charges to Antero for LIH insurance were proper. On the contrary, because Directional One bore the risk of LIH equipment, and the MSA required Directional One to cover such losses with first-party property insurance.

IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Because this case involves assignments of error in the application of settled law, Petitioner respectfully submits that this case is suitable for oral argument under R. App. P. 19. Because reversal is warranted, t this case is not appropriate for a memorandum decision.

V. ARGUMENT

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW.

"Appellate review of summary judgment is *de novo*."³⁰ The *de novo* standard applies regardless of whether the grant of summary judgment is complete or partial.³¹ Further, review of the "grant of summary judgment based upon contract interpretation is subject to *de novo* review because interpretation of contract language is a question of law."³²

B. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN CONCLUDING THAT THE PARTIES' MASTER SERVICES AGREEMENT WAS MODIFIED BY INCORPORATING THE "LOST IN HOLE" TERMS AND CONDITIONS CONTAINED IN RESPONDENT'S PRICING PROPOSAL BECAUSE THE PARTIES' MASTER SERVICES AGREEMENT EXPLICITLY AND EXPRESSLY PROHIBITS SUCH MODIFICATION AND THERE WERE NO AUTHORIZED, WRITTEN MODIFICATIONS OF SUCH AGREEMENT AS REQUIRED.

The MSA and the Pricing Proposal were drafted independently by two different parties without input from the other party or contemplation of the other document. Nowhere does Directional One's Pricing Proposal mention the MSA or any other agreement with Antero.³³

³⁰ Conkey v. Sleepy Creek Forest Owners Ass'n, Inc., 240 W. Va. 459, 463, 813 S.E.2d 112, 116 (2018) (citing Syl. pt. 1, Painter v. Peavy, 192 W. Va. 189, 451 S.E.2d 755 (1994) ("A circuit court's entry of summary judgment is reviewed de novo.")).

³¹ See id.; Gastar Expl., Inc. v. Contraguerro, 239 W. Va. 305, 312, 800 S.E.2d 891, 898 (2017) ("If partial summary judgment is granted, the standard of review on appeal to this Court is de novo."); W. Virginia State Police v. Hughes, 238 W. Va. 406, 796 S.E.2d 193 (2017) ("This Court reviews de novo the denial of a motion for summary judgment, where such a ruling is properly reviewable by this Court.").

³² Wood v. Acordia of W. Virginia, Inc., 217 W. Va. 406, 411, 618 S.E.2d 415, 420 (2005).

³³ App. 373-386

Nowhere does the MSA refer to the Pricing Proposal or any other document intended to contain additional terms and conditions.³⁴ In fact, only the very first Pricing Proposal produced by Directional One was signed by an Antero employee, Jon Black.³⁵

Not one of the subsequent Pricing Proposals was signed by an Antero employee, and not a single Pricing Proposal was signed by Directional One.³⁶ The MSA on the other hand, was signed by Directional One's owner, Kevin Onishenko, and Antero's Chief Administrative Officer and Regional Senior Vice President, Alvyn Schopp.³⁷ When read together, as required under West Virginia law, MSA Sections 22 and 23 require Mr. Schopp to be the person to modify the contract:

- 22. MODIFICATION OF CONTRACT. No change, modification, extension, renewal, ratification, rescission, discharge, abandonment, or waiver of this Agreement or any of the provisions of this Agreement or any representation, promise, or condition relating to this Agreement shall be binding upon Parties unless made in writing, signed by the Parties, and specifically referencing this Agreement Company's project managers, field personnel, or consultants are not authorized to modify this Agreement or to bind Company to risk allocation provisions.
- 23. NOTICES. Any notices or other communications required or permitted hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed given only when received by the Party to whom the same is directed as follows:

Company:

Antero Resources Corporation 1615 Wynkoop Street Denver, CD 80202 Attn: Al Schopp Phone: (303) 357-7325 Fax: (303) 357-7315

Contractor:

³⁴ App. 149-166.

³⁵ App. 386.

³⁶ App. 388-400, 402-416.

³⁷ App. 165.

These types of contractual provisions are specifically included to prevent what occurred in the instant case, i.e., permitting the modification of a contract – the MSA – in a manner other than "in writing, signed by the Parties, and specifically referencing this Agreement," not by the "Company's project managers, field personnel, or consultants," but by the person "authorized to modify or bind Company to risk allocation provisions," which was Mr. Schopp.³⁸

The Circuit Court plainly erred in concluding that the MSA was modified by Directional One's Pricing Proposal because the parties' MSA explicitly and expressly prohibits such modification, and there were no authorized, written modifications regarding the allocation of the risk of loss of LIH equipment as expressly required under the MSA. This alone warrants reversal of the Circuit Court's judgment.

C. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN CONCLUDING THAT THE PARTIES' MSA DID NOT REQUIRE DIRECTIONAL ONE TO BEAR THE RISK AND COSTS FOR ITS LIH EQUIPMENT.

One of the Circuit Court's primary errors was concluding that the MSA was silent about which party assumed the risks of equipment becoming LIH and its associated costs.³⁹ On the contrary, multiple provisions in the MSA clearly mandate that Directional One assumed that risk and was to incorporate those risks into the pricing for its directional drilling services. When applying and construing the terms of an unambiguous contract, a court must interpret the contract as a whole.⁴⁰ When reviewing the MSA as a whole, it is clear and unambiguous that LIH equipment's risks and costs were to be borne by Directional One.

³⁸ Clearly, the shifting of the risk of loss for LIH equipment is modifying the risk allocation under the MSA and could not be approved by anyone other than Mr. Shopp, and certainly not by field personnel, like Mr. Black.

³⁹ App. 1001.

⁴⁰ See Syl. pt. 3, Moore v. Johnson Serv. Co., 158 W. Va. 808, 219 S.E.2d 315 (1975).

1. Directional One was required to incorporate all of the risks for its LIH equipment into its service price.

Section 5 of the MSA provides that "[Directional One's] acceptance of and/or agreement to perform Work means that [Directional One] has, and warrants that it has, fully investigated and incorporated into the compensation . . . the complications, hazards, and risks incident to the Site and/or performing the Work[.]" Directional One recognized that LIH equipment is a risk incident to performing directional drilling services and admitted as much in its complaint when it stated that LIH equipment is something that "often happens." Requiring Directional One to evaluate the risks involved in its services and compute its daily rate for directional drilling services to cover and include those risks promotes stability and predictability in Antero's costs.

To allow Directional One to charge separately for LIH equipment makes no more sense in allowing an electrician, plumber, or carpenter to charge separately for their equipment lost or damaged in providing professional services, would render Section 5 meaningless, and contravenes West Virginia law: "in the construction of contracts, words or clauses are not to be treated as meaningless or discarded if any reasonable meaning consistent with the other parts of the contract can be given them." The only reasonable interpretation of MSA Section 5 is that Directional One was responsible for ensuring that its daily rate would adequately compensate it for all risks involved with performing its directional drillings services, including LIH equipment. By signing the MSA, Directional One explicitly warranted that it did just that and cannot now ignore that obligation.

⁴¹ App. 153-54.

⁴² App. 33.

⁴³ Moore v. Johnson Serv. Co., supra at 817, 219 S.E.2d at 321.

2. Directional One was required to procure and maintain first-party property insurance to cover LIH equipment and to protect Antero by naming Antero as an additional insured.

A review of the MSA's insurance provisions makes clear that Directional One was financially responsible for its equipment. Under Section 14.1 of the MSA, Directional One was required to procure and maintain insurance:

[Directional One] (and its contractors and subcontractors of every type and tier) shall at its own cost and expense (including deductibles) carry insurance (with carriers acceptable to Company) in the minimum amounts and in accordance with the specifications and requirements set forth in this Article 14 and Exhibit "A" of this Agreement. All such insurance shall be effective prior to the commencement of any Work and shall be maintained in full force and effect at all times Work is performed and/or this Agreement is in effect.⁴⁴

Section 14.5.1 further required that Directional One name Antero as an additional insured on the relevant insurance policies. Exhibit "A" to the MSA listed the various forms of insurance that Directional One was required and agreed to carry. Critically, Section 14 and Exhibit "A" required Directional One to carry "[f]irst Party/Property Insurance covering (for its full value) the property, equipment, tool, and equipment of [Directional One] that is <u>used</u> in the Work." 46

Moreover, the MSA unequivocally provides that the daily directional drilling rates "agreed to be paid to [Directional One] by [Antero] shall be inclusive of (i) insurance premiums paid by [Directional One] in acquiring and maintaining the insurance required by this Agreement[.]"⁴⁷ This contractual requirement is exact. The only logical conclusion drawn from reading the insurance requirements is that Directional One bore responsibility for any loss of its equipment.

⁴⁴ App. 160.

⁴⁵ App. 161.

⁴⁶ App. 160; 166 (emphasis added).

⁴⁷ App. 155 (emphasis added).

There would be no reason for Directional One to carry first-party property insurance that covered its equipment and tools if the parties intended for Antero to pay Directional One for LIH equipment.

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