FILE COPY





No. 20-0965

DO NOT REMOVE FROM FILE

ANTERO RESOURCES CORPORATION

Defendant Below, Petitioner,

v.

DIRECTIONAL ONE SERVICES INC. USA,

Plaintiff Below, Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

Christopher Kamper, pro hac vice Carver Schwarz McNab Kamper & Forbes, LLC 1888 Sherman Street, Suite 400 Denver, Colorado 80203 303-893-1815 (tel.) ckamper@csmkf.com

Sean P. McGinley, Esq. (WV Bar No. 5836)
DiPiero Simmons McGinley & Bastress, PLLC
P.O. Box 1631
Charleston, WV 25326-1631
304-342-0133 (tel.)
Sean.McGinley@dbdlawfirm.com

Attorneys for Respondent Directional ONE Services Inc. USA

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

More fundamentally, Petitioner's own senior drilling Director, Jon Black, <u>signed</u> the initial Rate Sheet. APP-00386. His signature, as is the case with all contracts, committed Petitioner to the entire document, not just isolated parts of it. At trial, Petitioner itself relied upon the terms and conditions of the Rate Sheets for its affirmative claims and stipulated to formation of a "binding contract." APP-01028 lines 11-12. Yet, Petitioner now claims it can cherry-pick the parts of that Rate Sheet that suit its arguments and ignore others on the ground that it never anticipated that the Rate Sheets might be written in English.

Finally, there is no dispute that for over three years, and in payment of innumerable invoices, both parties lived by the Rate Sheets and not solely the MSAs. Petitioner admitted in discovery that it was "unaware of any circumstance in which it paid an invoice ... on any basis other than the Rate Sheet." APP-00557. See, Watson v. Buckhannon River Coal Co., 95 W.Va. 164, 175, 120 S.E. 390, 394 (1923) ("Tell me what the parties have done under a contract and I will tell you what that contract means.") This undisputed course of performance establishes that Petitioner accepted each and every Rate Sheet and relied upon the Rate Sheets as part of the agreement.

2. The Rate Sheets do not conflict with the MSAs.

Even if potentially in conflict, separate provisions of an agreement "will be construed together if possible.... The one will not be given control over the other if they can possibly be reconciled, it being presumed that the contract contains no provisions or clauses not intended by the parties." *Gabbert v. William Seymour Edwards Oil Co.*, 76 W.Va. 718, 721, 86 S.E. 671, 672 (1915). See also, *McCaskey v. California State Automobile Assn.*, 118 Cal. Rptr. 3d 34, 52-53 (Cal. App. 2010) ("where two provisions conflict, the resulting repugnancy ... must be reconciled"); *Johnson Controls, Inc. v. City of Cedar Rapids*, 713 F.2d 370, 374 (8th Cir. 1983) (courts should find a "harmonious interpretation" to resolve potentially conflicting clauses).

In *Gabbert*, this Court construed an oil and gas lease that began its life as a printed form, to which the parties had added a typewritten additional term. 76 W.Va. at 720, 86 S.E. at 671. The typewritten additional term required the Lessee either to begin operation within 40 days or pay the Lessor \$500.00. The pre-printed form, however, gave the Lessee the right to surrender the lease at any time. *Id.* On the 39th day, the Lessee attempted to surrender the lease, but the Lessor argued that surrender clause had been nullified by the typewritten term. *Id.*

Though this Court recognized a general rule that the typewritten clause would prevail over the pre-printed form to the extent of any "conflict" between them, it declined to find such a conflict, instead relying upon a presumption that "the contract contains no provisions or clauses not intended by the parties." *Id.* This Court held the two provisions could be read together to state that the Lessee could avoid the \$500.00 payment by surrendering the lease prior to the 40th day. The pre-printed form, though subordinate to the typewritten addition, remained as an exception or limitation to the operation of the clause that would otherwise prevail by default rule. Thus, both clauses were given meaning and effect by this Court.

Here, §§ 13 and 14 of the MSAs require Directional One to provide an indemnity favoring Petitioner against loss of tools, and to insure tools, in the most specific description, "used in the Work." See, Exhibit A to MSAs, APP-00463 (2014) and 00584 (2015 MSA).

In contrast, the Rate Sheets:

- (1) Identify specific individual tools that are subject to LIH pricing (APP-00409);
- (2) State the specific dollar amount applicable to each separately listed tool (id.);
- (3) State when the LIH pricing applies (APP-00396 \P 7); and
- (4) Describe the specific procedures that the parties will use in the event that tools become stuck in the wellbore (APP-00397 \P 9).

It is therefore undisputed that the Rate Sheets provide specific detail as to LIH tools that is lacking in any applicable provision of the MSAs. Therefore, although § 19 of the MSAs provides a similar rule to that identified in *Gabbert* regarding any "conflict" with the Rate Sheets, this Court should not search for conflict. It should rather, as in *Gabbert*, treat these documents as two agreements that the parties intended to function together, as they in fact did for three years.

It is easy to see how they did so. As interpreted by the Business Court, the MSAs and Rate Sheets work together to articulate a single rule that Directional One was responsible for its tools and equipment up to the point where specific tools were placed in the wellbore, at which point Petitioner assumed responsibility for specific tools up to an agreed and definite price. This is how Directional One understood the contract to work, and for three years, this is also how Petitioner performed.

The parties, and the Business Court, were therefore both following black-letter contract principles. Narrow and specific provisions are generally regarded as exceptions or qualifications to more general provisions, and courts, as this Court did in *Gabbert*, try to find ways to give both provisions effect. See, *Earth Pipeline Servs. v. Columbia Gas Transmission*, 623 B.R. 100, 112 (Bankr. D. Del. 2020) (applying West Virginia law, specific lien waiver language in contract controlled over general waiver provision); *State ex rel. Hercules Tire & Rubber Supply Co. v. Gore*, 152 W.Va. 76, 84, 159 S.E.2d 801, 806 (W. Va. 1968) (specific language in a statute controls over general language); *5 Corbin on Contracts* § 24.23 (2020) ("the more specific term should usually be held to prevail over the more general term"); *Restatement of Contracts* § 236(c) (1932) ("Where there is an inconsistency between general provisions and specific

provisions, the specific provisions ordinarily qualify the meaning of the general provisions.")

Every jurisdiction in America, without exception, considers this to be black-letter contract law.

Petitioner suggests that this Court could "resolve" the tension between the LIH pricing and the indemnity of the MSA by ruling its favor. Pet. Brf. at 29. Petitioner, below, failed to identify an accepted canon of construction that would support the resolution it suggests.⁷ In contrast, "specific qualifies the general" is a well-established rule of law.

Petitioner relies upon *Pertee v. Goodyear Tire & Rubber Co.*, 1995 U.S. App. LEXIS 27704 (*slip op.* 4th Cir. October 2, 1995), an unpublished federal decision construing West Virginia law.⁸ Pet. Brf. at 27. This reliance appears misplaced because *Pertee* held that the two contractual documents at issue in that case were to be "read together." Slip op. at 5. Indeed, *Pertee* cites the same authority Directional One relies upon for this proposition. *Id.* The

See, e.g., DCV Holdings, Inc. v. ConAgra, Inc., 889 A.2d 954, 961 (Del. 2005) ("Specific language in a contract controls over general language, and where specific and general provisions conflict, the specific provision ordinarily qualifies the meaning of the general one."); Brinderson-Newberg Joint Venture v. Pac. Erectors, Inc., 971 F.2d 272, 278 (9th Cir. 1992) ("It is well settled that where there is an inconsistency between general provisions and specific provisions [in a contract], the specific provisions ordinarily qualify the meaning of the general provisions."); Mayer v. Pierce County Med. Bureau, Inc., 909 P.2d 1323 (Wash. 1995) (the specific provision ordinarily qualifies the meaning of the general provision under general rules of contract construction); Kittleson v. Grynberg Petro. Co., 2016 ND 44, P14, 876 N.W.2d 443, 447 (N.D. 2016) ("if a conflict exists between a specific provision and a general provision in a contract, the specific provision qualifies the general provision"); Musko v. Musko, 697 A.2d 255, 256 (Pa. 1997) ("when specific or exact provisions seem to conflict with broader or more general terms, the specific provisions are more likely to reflect the intent of the parties than the general provisions").

Petitioner suggests that this Court should resolve this issue using a "battle of forms" analysis. Pet. Brf. at 29. Petitioner did not raise this argument below. Also, Petitioner has overlooked the fact that if this case was a battle of forms, Directional One fired the last shot – its Rate Sheet that took effect December 1, 2017 would then become the controlling document. This document was the basis of every invoice and payment made until March 2018, when Directional One terminated the MSA.

Because *Pertee* was issued prior to January 1, 2007, under Fourth Circuit Rule 32.1, Petitioner's citation "is disfavored, except for the purpose of establishing res judicata, estoppel, or the law of the case." However, an exception may be made if there is "no published opinion that would serve as well." Petitioner's reliance on *Pertee* may therefore be taken as an admission that Petitioner could not find a single published decision to support its arguments.

difference between *Pertee* and the instant case is that in *Pertee*, the two agreements contained contrary indemnities. One document stated that the Seller would indemnify the Buyer against all third-party claims; the other document stated Buyer would indemnify Seller for those same claims. *Id.* It was not possible to give effect to both provisions at the same time.

That is not the case here. In the instant case, the MSA § 13.3 contains a general indemnity, and § 14 contains general insurance requirements applicable to tools, in their most specific formulation, "used in the Work." The Rate Sheets do not sweep so broadly. Instead, they require payment in specific, pre-determined amounts for identified, separately listed tools. Payment is triggered by specific circumstances, i.e., while the tools are below the rotary table, and when they become stuck in the wellbore. At that point, the parties are to follow, and did follow, procedures stated only in the Rate Sheets – not the MSA. The pricing for LIH tools does not extend to all of Directional One's equipment or tools "used in the Work," but rather only to the tools identified and separately listed in the Rate Sheets. If the tools at issue in this case had been stolen from Directional One's tool-yard or fallen off a Directional One truck rather than being lost in the wellbore, or if the LIH tools in this case had not been listed on the LIH pricing sheet, this litigation would never have happened.

Directional One's LIH pricing was specific, was industry standard, and was also standard for all of Petitioner's drilling contractors. *Black Deposition*, APP-00423 (Tr. 46:14 – 48:24). This is so because, in addition to Directional One, Petitioner structured all of its contracts with all of its drilling contractors in precisely this fashion. They all contain a general indemnity in favor of Petitioner, qualified and modified by more specific provisions pertaining to LIH tools.

For example, another of Petitioner's drilling contracts provides as follow:

§ 8.2(A): "EXCEPT IN THE CIRCUMSTANCES SET OUT IN ARTICLE 8.2(C), CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR AND AGREES TO

RELEASE ... INDEMNIFY AND HOLD HARMLESS COMPANY FROM AND AGAINST ANY AND ALL CLAIMS FOR DAMAGE TO OR LOSSS OR DESTRUCTION OF PROPERTY OF ANY MEMBER OF CONTRACTOR GROUP" (emphasis in original).

8.2(C): "COMPANY SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR AND AGREES TO REIMBURSE CONTRACTOR GROUP FOR ALL LOSS OF, DAMAGE TO, ABNORMAL WEAR OR DESTRUCTION OF ANY CONTRACTOR GROUP PROPERTY OR EQUIPMENT ... WHILE IN THE WELL BORE, OR INSIDE THE CASING OR RISER BELOW THE ROTARY TABLE ..." (emphasis in original).

APP-00632.

Thus, the same contract contains (1) a general indemnity in favor of Petitioner; and (2) a specific exception for LIH tools in favor of the drilling contractor. But the two are not in conflict. In fact, one is expressly an exception to the other. Petitioner structured all of its drilling contracts in this fashion. All contained a general indemnity; all contained provisions modifying the general indemnity and separately addressing LIH tools. APP-00644 – 666.

The only difference is that Directional One's agreement is stated in two documents – the applicable Rate Sheet plus the current MSA – rather than a single document. This also explains why Directional One did not negotiate specific changes to the MSA. The parties had already agreed to standard LIH pricing terms in the Rate Sheet. *See*, Pet. Brf. at 18.9 By the time the parties entered the 2015 MSA, Petitioner had already paid LIH charges based on the Rate Sheets *on three separate occasions* and did so one more time soon thereafter.

Moreover, the difference between using two documents rather than one to express the intent of the parties is immaterial. It is in fact typical in the oil and gas industry because "MSAs will not work for [c]ertain contracts, such as drilling contracts." William W. Pugh and

— 25 —

Here, Petitioner points to Directional One's "sophistication" in an effort to show that Directional One should have attempted to negotiate the terms of the MSAs rather than simply relying upon the executed and binding Rate Sheets. Petitioner was a "sophisticated" party as well, one that knowingly executed and entered into the obligations stated in the Rate Sheets, and also paid LIH invoices four times.

Harold J. Flanagan, *Master Service Agreements and Risk Allocation: In Whose Good Hands Are You?* Chapter 14, 48 Rocky Mtn. Mineral Law Institute (2002) at § 14.02[3]). Although the "typical drilling contract will allocate certain risks on a reciprocal basis Other risks, such as downhole tools ... are often assumed by the operator." *Id.* at § 14.03[1][a].

Thus, there is no dispute that the Rate Sheets and MSAs were intended to be read together. The Business Court maturely considered all of the evidence and the law that applies in this commercial business context. Its entry of summary judgment is supported by undisputed facts and clear law. It should therefore be affirmed.

B. The contract term "provided" has a broad, but unambiguous meaning.

The key contractual term "provided," in plain English, means: "[t]o make, procure, or furnish for future use, prepare. To supply; to afford; to contribute." *Black's Law Dictionary*, 6th Ed., 1990. It has "a broad and inclusive" meaning. *Vonage Holdings Corp. v. FCC*, 489 F.3d 1232, 1239 (D.C. Cir. 2007) ("provide" is broad enough to include "the act of supplying a good or service as a component of a larger, integrated product"). See also, *King v. Independent Sch. Dist.*, 272 P. 507, 510 (Idaho 1928) ("provide" includes "almost any means" whereby something is "made available"). ¹⁰

As shown by the foregoing undisputed facts, Directional One "provided" both tools and personnel, contributing to a complex operation directed and controlled by Petitioner. Each and every witness to address this issue so testified, including <u>each and every one of Petitioner's own</u>

Petitioner's Brief attempts in several places to substitute outlandish rhetoric in place of legal analysis. Perhaps the most outlandish is its statement that Directional One "desperately clings" to the term "provided." Pet. Brf. at 19. That term is part of the plain language of the parties' agreement. Directional One certainly is happy to rely upon the plain language of the agreement and does not share Petitioner's apparent belief that such reliance is a matter of desperation. It is just what the contract says.

<u>senior managers and executives</u>. Those are the undisputed facts of the parties' actual, realworld relationship.

Petitioner argues that it never took title to the tools (Pet. Brf. at 19-20), but this red herring is both irrelevant and false. It is irrelevant because "provided" does not imply or require a transfer of title. An equipment lessor, for example, "provides" equipment to the lessee without transferring title. In fact, a daily leasing or rental arrangement appears to be more or less what is contemplated by the "Operational Day Rate" of the Rate Sheets. But Petitioner's assertion is also false because when tools became stuck in hole, a "purchase" transaction is precisely how Petitioner's drilling managers described the ensuing resolution. Only the Rate Sheets, not the MSAs, gave Petitioner permission to cement the tools into the wellbore and permanently deprive Directional One of any opportunity to attempt retrieval.

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